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BOUNDARIES AND INTRODUCTION 

The SoHo-Cast Iron Historic District in lower Manhattan is nearly rectangular 
in shape and is bounded by Canal Street, Broadway, Upward Street, Crosby Street, 
East Houston Street, West Houston Street and'West,Broadway. It consists of 26 
city.blocks and contains about 500 buildings'. 

The hyphenated name, ' SoHo-Cast Iron1' was chosen for the designation of New 
York City's twenty-third Historic District in order to suggest some'of the diversity 
of the area. The 'Cast Iron' portion of the name refers to the unique collection 
of cast-iron structures located within the District. ,;SoHo,!; meaning "South of 
Houston," is the acronym adopted by a group of;artists who moved, in the 1960s, 
into what then seemed* to be a doomed neighborhood. They, have given it a new life, 
making feasible the: preservation of an irreplaceable part of our cultural heritage. 
The.use of the double name is also intended to suggest that, even architecturally, 
the District contains more than just cast-iron buildings, important though they 
are. Indeed, the District contains some of the City's most interesting extant 
examples of brick, stone and mixed iron-and-masonry commercial construction of 
the post-Civil War period. 

The body of this designation report is divided into three parts: 

Part I_ discusses the social and economic history and the architectural develop­
ment of the area, and provides background information on the use of cast iron as 
a building material and its application to architectural forms. Through this 
analysis, the following factors relating to the unique significance of the District 
are emphasized: 

(1) The social, cultural and economic history of the District has been, and 
is again becoming, as varied and colorful as any to be found in New York 
City. 

(2) The illustration it provides of 19th-century commercial architectural 
styles is probably as complete, well documented and geographically compact 
as any to be found in the United States. 

(3) The collection of well preserved cast-iron structures, now unrivalled in 
the world., demonstrates how cast iron was used in 19th-century commercial 
construction. It also illustrates in a tangible way all sides of a great, 
aesthetic debate. Some of the more thoughtful 19th-century theorists 
hoped, through a synthesis between engineering and architecture, to develop 
a truly representative contemporary style. 

In Part II the thirteen streets that either border or run through the District 
are arranged alphabetically and discussed block by block. In each case there is 
an introductory section describing the general character of the block in question 
with detailed descriptions of buildings of particular interest, followed by a 
tabular listing of all the pertinent information known about each structure in 
the block. 

Part III contains appendices, sources and credits, bibliography as well as the 
findings of the Landmarks Preservation Commission. 

-1-
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TESTIMONY AT PUBLIC HEARINGS 

On July 21, 1970 the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing 
on a proposal to designate a Cast Iron Historic District' (Item.No. 2) within the 
above described boundaries. This proposed Historic District included a number of 
buildings, in the tier of blocks, between Broadway and Crosby Street, from Howard 
Street to East Houston Street, that were an addition to the buildings contained in 
a previously proposed Historic District that had been the subject of a public 
hearing on. June 23, 1970-.(Item No. 2) arid Which was also reconsidered on July 21, 
1970 (Item No. 1). ,. , ,. .,.,/ 

The hearings had been duly advertised in accordance with the law. At the 
..-July 21 j 1970 hearing-, thirteen persons spoke in favor of a Cast Iron Historic 
District and five individuals opposed it. The witnesses favoring designation 
clearly .indicated that there,is great support for this.proposed Historic District; 
they also indicated a-,preference for the enlarged boundaries as proposed on 
July 21, 1970'(Item No. ,2). ; •[, .. 
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Part I 

1• LAMP USE: SOCIAL AND ECONOMIC HISTORY -

The Colonial Period - Farms- and Forts j 

During the Dutch Colonial period, the area of the present Historic District 
was farmland that had been granted to some of the manumitted slaves of the Dutch 
v/est India Company.(1)* Many of these Blacks had been freed by an order of February 
25, 1644 after they had belonged to the Company for almost twenty years. They were 
then ostensibly on the same footing as other free people in New Netherland and they 
were expected to. earn their livelihood by agriculture but their future was consider­
ably less secure than that of the other' citizens. Their children, both those born 
and thbse yet to be born, were to"be slaves of the Company.(2) This practice was 
demonstrated on December 6, 1663 when Domingo Angola and his wife, Marycke,free 
Blacks and owners of a plot of land lying roughly between Houston Street, Prince 
Street, Greene Street and Broadway£3petitioned the Provincial Council for the manu­
mission of Christina; a baptized-orphan^daughter of .Manuel Trumpeter and his wife 
Anthonya. The Council would grant their^request on condition that either another 
Negro slave be provided for the Dutch Westlndia Company in'her place or that three 
hundred guilders be paid for her-release. On September 16, 1664, Govert Loockermans, 
Orphan-Master of the Province, paid the three hundred guilders for Christina's 
freedom.(4) 

The SoHo-Cast Iron District thus has the added interest of having been the 
site of the first free Black settlement on Manhattan Island. It retained a Black̂  
population for over two hundred years, until the middle of the 19th Century, when 
the area changed from residential to commercial use.(5) 

In the 1660s, Augustine Herrman(c. 1605-1686) began to acquire much of the land 
in and near the, Historic District.(6) He had been born and raised in Prague but was 
forced to flee in 1618 to Amsterdam with his parents after his father had been out­
lawed for political activities. After serving for a short time in the army of 
Gustavus Adolfus of Sweden, Augustine Herrman joined the Dutch West India Company 
and traded for them in Curacao, Brazil and New Netherland. In 1643, he left the 
Company and became the agent in New Netherland for the great Amsterdam mercantile 
firm of Peter Gabry §. Sons.' He built a large fortune through trade in furs, 
slaves and indigo while in their service, and became the largest exporter of 
tobacco in America.. Herrman bought extensive tracts of land on Manhattan Island 
and in New Jersey hot only for himself but for Govert Loockermans and his brother-
in-law, Nicholas Bayard. Peter Stuyvesant sent him to Maryland in 1659 to conduct 
negotiations with Lord Baltimore concerning the boundary between his territory and 
that of "the Dutch. The map of the Maryland territory, on which Herrman worked for 
ten years, so pleased Lord Baltimore'that he gave Herrman over thirteen thousand 
acres of land in Maryland arid, the "hereditary titie of Lord of the Manor. Herrman 
died at Bohemia Manor, Maryland, >in 1686. His land holdings in the area of the 
Historic District passed'to his brother-in-law, Nicholas Bayard, near the end of 
the 17th Century.(7) 

Nicholas Bayard (c. 1644-1707),:a nephew of Peter Stuyvesant, was born in the 
Netherlands and was brought to this country by his mother in 1647. He served the 
government of the Colony in a number of capacities including Surveyor of the Prov­
ince and Mayor of the City. In 1686, while serving as Mayor, he helped to draw 
up the Dongan Charter which guaranteed the rights and privileges of colonial citi­
zens. During 1689, when the Colony^was convulsed by the "Glorious Revolution", 
which culminated in New York with Leisler's Rebellion, Bayard fled to Albany to 
escape assassination at the hands of the Leislerites.- When-he learned that his 
son, Samuel, was ill, he returned to the City and was arrested and thrown into 
prison. He remained in prison until he was released by Henry Sloughter whom King 
William had newly appointed Governor of the Province. ! 

* See: Footnotes, pp. 26-30 
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Leisler and his son-in-law, Milbourne, after surrendering the Province to 
Sloughter, were arrested,, tried and on May 16, 1691, hanged and,; beheaded for the 
crime of high treason. But the factionalism did.not die,with .Leisler... When Lord 
Bellomont, who was sympathetic toward the Leislerites, .was appointed the chief 
executive of New York, the Leislerites accused Bayard and others of being Jacobite 
pirates in league with Captain Kidd. .Bayard, in turn, was tried for high treason 
before Chief Justice Atwood and sentenced to be hanged and dismembered. Before 
the execution-order could be carried out, however, Bayard.'s appeal was granted and 
the sentence was annulled. All his lands which had been confiscated were restored to 
him and Bayard died quietly in New York City in 170,7.(8) 

The SoHo-Cast Iron Historic District lies in part within the western section 
of the Bayard Farm and during the 13th Century there was little change in its rural 
character.(9) This was due to the fact that "it was cut off. by natural barriers 
from the settlement at the lower tip. of Manhattan. The Collect Pond and the stream 
flowing from it, Smith's Hill, Bayard's Hill and Lispenard's Meadow (Cripplebush 
Swamp) all combined'to slow the.northward expansion of the City.(10) Broadway 
was not extended north of Canal.Street until after 1775(11) and the surrounding 
land, even at this date, was still being farmed. 

When the Revolution erupted, a series of fortifications and redoubts were 
built across Manhattan. There were two forts oh Mercer Street between Broome and 
Spring streets: a third was located in the center of the block^bounded by Grand, 
Broome, Mercer and Greene streets: and another stood between Grand and Broome 
Streets, Broadway and Crosby Street,breastworks stretched across Broadway a few 
feet north of Grand Street. (12) .'•':•• 

The Early Republic 

As a result of financial- difficulties caused by the Revolutionary War, Nicholas 
Bayard, the third of that namei was forced to mortgage his West Farm. It was divided 
into lots at the close of the 18th Century but very little development took place 
until the first decade of the 19th Century.(13) . 

As early as 1794, the area near the junction of Broadway and Canal Street had 
attracted a few manufacturing businesses. On the northwest corner of the inter­
section stood the cast-iron foundry and sales shop, of Joseph Blackwell, wealthy 
merchant and owner of Blackwell's Island.(14) Next to his property was that of 
Thomas Duggan who owned a number of lots along Canal Street'which was then called 
Duggan Street. He operated a tannery near Blackwell's foundry.(15) 

By the early 1800s, landowners in the area had begun to petition the Common 
Council to drain and fill the Collect Pond, its outlet to the Hudson River and 
Lispenard's Meadow. What had been a bucolic retreat for the residents of the Dutch 
and English town had become a serious health hazard to the citizens of the City 
and an impediment to its development. The shores* of the Collect were strewn with 
garbage and the rotting carcasses of dead animals, the.stream along Canal•Street was 
a sluggish sewer of green water and parts of Lispenard's Meadow were a bog. 
that yearly claimed a number of cows. ,It was also a breeding ground for the mos­
quitoes that almost every summer spread the dreaded yellow fever plagues. After 
years of bickering and numerous plans and proposals, Bayard's Hill which stood over 
one hundred feet above the present grade of Grand Street and the other hills in 
the vicinity were cut down and used, together with the City's rubbish, to fill in 
the marshy land.(16) 

In 1809, Broadway was paved and sidewalks were constructed from Canal Street 
to Astor Place and serious development of the area began. However, even before 
this, a number of prominent men had chosen to build their houses along this section 
of Broadway. Citizen Genet, James Fennimore Cooper, Samuel Lawrence and the Rev­
erend John Livingston all lived near the .intersection of Spring Street and Broad­
way. (17) Spring Street was one of the earliest streets opened for development 
and the oldest house in the Historic District still stands, on Spring Street. It 
is No. 107, a frame house with a brick front built by Conrad Brooks, a shoemaker, 
about 1806. '.•''.'....." 

Another early house on Spring Street is the William Dawes house at No. 129 
which was built in 1817. As late as the 1950s a well of Manhattan Company which 
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used to supply water to the City was located in an.alley behind the house. It 
was in this well that.the body of Juliana Elmore Sands was discovered on January 
2, 1800, and its discovery electrified the community. A young.man named Levi 
Weeks who was said to be her fiance was arrested for her murder. He_was. defended, 
among others, by.Aaron Burr, one of the organizers of the Manhattan Company, and by 
Alexander Hamilton. It is ironic that these two. men should join in the defense of 
Weeks but it indicates the enormous amount of public excitement and-iterest in the 
case. After three days of testimony before a packed courtroom and with hundreds 
of people crowded in the street outside, the jury found Weeks innocent of the, charges 
It was determined that the young woman had committed, suicide in a fit of melancholy. 
But rumors about the affair persisted and tales of a white robed figure moaning 
at the well and alarm bells in the night continued fdr many years after the event.(18 
The mystery remained unique in the folklore of the-City until the murder of Mary 
Rogers, a salesgirl in a cigar shoptin the St. Nicholas Hotel, forty years later. 

. The sections of the hotel that are still standing on Broadway near Spring Street 
may occupy the site of this, earlier hotel.(19) The murder was.described in 
depth by Edgar Allen Poe in his short-. story-'The Mystery of Marie Roget." 

1815-1850 - A Residential Neighborhood 

The development of. the District was slowed by the War of ,1812, but after 
the economy;recovered>from the post-war depression, building

1activity was-rapidly 
renewed in the area. Because wealthy and influential men had settled along the 
northern section of that part of Broadway which runs through the District and in 
the area immediately north of Houston Street, the sense of prestige which their 
names gave to the neighborhood made it attractive to the growing number of middle 
class families in the City. The period between 1815 and 1825 was a decade of 
enormous growth for the Eighth Ward in which the Historic District (except for 

!••••• those blocks between Broadway and Crosby Street) formed the easternmost part. Its 
population more" than doubled, changing.it from an area that had been described as 

!.'...•; one of ,!hill and dale and ..pleasant valley' to the most populous .Ward in the City. (20) 
Nearly three dozen houses in. the District date from this period of growth. Two, 
almost complete rows of Federal houses still stand; one on the south side of; Spring 
Street between Wooster Street and West Broadway and the other on the north side 
of Canal.Street between Mercer and Greene Streets. Samuel F.. B. Morse lived at 
No. 321 Canal Street in 1825.(21) i 

. 1850-1900 ,-• Entertainment, Commerce and Industry ,. 

For the thirty years between 1820 and 1850, the District remained a stable 
: residential neighborhood, but in the 1850s it began to change:, and-to change rapidly. 

..:.. The transformation at'this, time was. due in-no. small part to the new development 
that had begun to alter Broadway. The decade of. the. 1850s saw the metamorphosis 
of Broadway from a street of small brick retail shops into a boulevard of marble, 
cast-iron and broimstone commercial palazzos. , Lord ??• Taylor, Arnold Constable 
. § Co., Tiffany §• Co.,, E. V. Haughwout and others established their, stores on or 
near Broadway. Major hotels joined them: the Union Hotel, the City Hotel,, the 
Prescptt House, the Metropolitan and the magnificent St. Nicholas Hotel. The famous 

. ; ; music halls and theaters soon opened: Brougham's Lyceum, the, Chinese Rooms, Buckley's 
/ Minstrel Hall, the Olympic, -Lafayette Hail, the American Art Union,1 the American 

.;• Musical Institute and many more,- made Broadway between Canal and Houston Streets 
• the entertainment center of .the City. (22) -:.•••••.'•..-

.. The decade also saw a radical change in the small cobbled streets behind the 
: splendid facades of Broadway. They, too, became an entertainment center and were ' 

•,:••.•-. as famous for. their .diversions aswas Broadway. There, were-even, guide books and 
•:• directories specifically published for ,the area. It had become the red light dis­

trict. ... Crosby,. Mercer and Greene Streets; West Broadway and Houston Street all 
had their ''ton", houses, houses of 'assignation and ladies' boarding houses that 
catered to every taste. A lonely traveller could visit *1rs. Hathaway and "view 
sr>me of. her, fair, Quakeresses".; or Mrs. Everett whose' -beautiful senoritas are 
quite aecbmpibishfad./'•'•: or Hiss Lizzie Wright ana her'"French bellesM:; or Madame 
Louisa Kanth's which was run ''on the German order"; or Miss Virginia Henriques' 
where uits lady, its boarders, its fixins and fashions" were on the Creole 

'-, order". (23) ' • - . . •.;.:"••••" • .-.. ''•••.,•'• '• '• '' • '••>•'• • 
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But pleasure was not the only business of the Historic District during the 
1850s. As the middle class families began to leave the area, small manufacturing 
companies took their place. Brady's Iron Foundry, Althouse Iron Works, a number 
of copper and brass shops,.locksmiths, and China and glass manufactories made and 
sold their products here. There were cabinet makers producing pianos, chairs and 
tables, ;together with the lumber yards to supply the wood they needed. Lorillard's 
Snuff Manufactory occupied most of the block between Broome, Spring, Wooster and 
West Broadway and Appleton § Co., book publishers, used the Howard building on 
Greene Street as their warehouse.(24) 

The 1860s brought another great change in the character of the area. The 
Eighth Ward, in the five year period between 1860 and 1865, lost 25% of its popula­
tion, the highest rate of loss for any of the Wards below 14th Street. This loss 
was due.in part to the increasing sordidness and danger that developed around 
the brothels but the major cause of the exodus was the movement of factories and 
warehouses into the Ward'. (25) Despite this shift in land use, the value of the 
real estate actually decreased during the Civil War but the trend was dramatically 
reversed in 1868. This was.the first year of. one, of the greatest speculative eras 
in the City's history.(26) At the close of the War, the value of the property in 
the Eighth Ward had been assessed at a little over $18,000,000, butin 1868 it was 
assessed at nearly $26,000,000 -- an increase in three years greater than the increas 
over the twenty year period between 1845 and 1365. This increase and the fact that 
the Ward was strategically located close to the largest business markets in the City 
and near the docks along the North River did not go unnoticed. Boss Tweed and his 
Ring began.to make plans for the section but before their schemes could be carried 
out the, Ring was broken and the Panic of 1873 hit the country.(27) 

It took six years to recover from the effects of the Panic but, beginning in 
1879 and continuing into the 1890s, large factories and stores were built along the 
streets parallel to Broadway. The District was no longer the City's entertainment 
center but had now become a center for the mercantile and dry-goods trade. Some of 
the most important textile firms in the country were located here and conducted 
world-wide trade worth millions of dollars. 

Cheney Brothers, one of the foremost silk-fabric manufacturers in the world, 
maintained offices at 477-479 Broome Street in a cast-iron building designed by 
Elisha Sniffen. This remarkable family began their silk manufacturing 1838 in 
South Manchester, Connecticut, where they constructed a company town that was noted 
for its humanitarian planning.(28) The family was not only noteworthy for its 
business acumen .but Seth Wells Cheney and his brother, John, also made notable 
contributions to American arts and letters.(29) 

The cast-iron building designed by John Correja on the northeast corner of 
Grand Street and Broadway was occupied by Mills fT Gibb, a world-wide dry-goods 
firm with offices in Nottingham, Paris, Calais, and major American cities. It 
was the largest firm of its type in the country.(30) 

W. G. Hitchcock § Co. was a prominent import and commission firm that had 
been established in 1818 by Pierre Becar. Among its early partners were Aaron 
Arnold and James M. Constable of Arnold Constable fj Co. They had their offices 
in the Griffith Thomas cast-iron building at 453-455 Broome Street and dealt 
mainly in silks.(31) 

The Jennings Lace Works which had its factory in Brooklyn, kept their main 
office at 77 Greene Street where they introduced into this country Chantilly, Point 
d'Alencon and Breton lace.(32) 

Oelbermann, Dommerich PT Co. which had its own building at 57-63 Greene Street 
was an old dry-goods firm. Its trade was so extensive that there was hardly a 
branch of the dry-goods business that did not have dealings with the company. Their 
annual sales by 1893 amounted to about $15,000,000.(33) 

The building at 455 Broadway was the main office for Belding Brothers S Co., 
which, at one time, was one of the most important manufacturing interests in the 
country. They had mills which produced sewing-silk in Montreal, San Francisco, 
Northampton, Mass., Rockville, Conn, and Belding, Mic. which had been named after 
the family.(34) 
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With the end of the 19th Century came an end to speculative interest and growth 
in the area. The center of the City had long since moved northward and with it the 

. v prominent businesses soon followed. Marginal industries, such as dealers in textile 
and paper wastes, small apparel firms that produced underwear and standard design 
women's clothing, that did not change with the fashions, filled the vacancies left 
by the older businesses.(35) 

Decay and Rebirth -- Artists and Industry ..;..' 

For the next sixty years, the District lay unchanged and forgotten by the 
City in a limbo of small industrial and commercial enterprises. It was not until 
the 1960s that a new movement began to stir. This, surprisingly enough, was 

.. caused by the trend among artists to paint on larger and larger canvasses. The 
high-ceilinged, empty lofts of SolIo provided the large spaces that they needed 

...for their work and the rents were very low., With the help .of. City, agencies, the 
zoning laws were imaginatively amended to; permit the migration of artists into the 
area without, at the same time, driving :out the marginal industries whose employment 

, of thousands of semi-skilled workers fills a necessary niche .-in the City's economy. 
, The result has been that the SoHo-Cast Iron Historic District is.fast becoming one 

of the most important creative centers of contemporary,art in the nation. At the 
same time, the innovative zoning provisions are demonstrating how, with appropriate 

: provisions for health and safety,manufacturing, commercial and certain residential 
uses can exist side-by-side. If the demonstration continues to succeed as it has 
during the past few years> SoHo may well provide a wider lesson. With a little 
imagination, effort and ingenuity; exciting alternatives to demolition can be found 
for the stagnant and decaying areas of our cities. These alternatives have the 
further advantage, which, "slum clearance"'lacks, of preserving the continuity of a 
city's .cultural and historic heritage — in the case of the Solio-Cast Iron District, 
the preservation of a unique concentration of structures of great historic signif­
icance. 
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2. STYLISTIC HISTORY •.-.•' 

The SoHo-Cast Iron Historic District is significant not only for its historic 
role in the commercial development of New York City, but also for the survival of 
the largest concentration of full and partial cast-iron facades anywhere in the 
world. A majority, of the buildings that incorporate full fronts of cast iron date 
from the decade of the 1870s, though a substantial number of complete masonry 
structures, as well as those combining masonry and cast iron, date from earlier 
and later decades. 

The earliest extant buildings within the Historic District date back to the 
first decade of the 19th century, when the area was exclusively residential.1 By 
mid-century, most of the early houses had either been replaced or.converted for 
commercial purposes, though there remain today over thirty identifiable Federal 
period buildings within the District boundaries. They are far outnumbered, however, 
by non-residential structures dating from every decade of the second half of the 19t; 
century plus a few belonging to the 20th. Although the commercial character of the 
area was firmly established by the 1870s, the broad range of construction dates 
can be attributed to the need for expansion, the need to keep in step with changing 
fashions and the need to.replace structures lost or damaged by fire. 

Early Non-Commercial Architecture 

The earliest known, building remaining in the Historic District is a.c. 1806-
08 Federal style brick house, now covered by stucco, located at 107 Spring Street. 
Although the only discernible Federal characteristics.remaining on this building 
are its handsome stone lintels, three later Federal houses in the Historic District 
retain their original doorways. One of these is the house at 105 Mercer Street, 
built in 1819-20, which has kept intact the original wooden columns flanking the 
door, above which is an outstanding leaded fanlight. Another common treatment of 
Federal doorways was a rectangular transom outlined by an egg-and-dart molding as 
exemplified by. the entrances to 146 and 156 Spring Street, which also retain 
their original entry columns. These three houses, though the best preserved, are 
similar in their basic characteristics to the other extant Federal houses in the 
Historic District. For the most part they are three stories high with a width of 
twenty-five feet. Their Flemish bond brickwork is how often covered by stucco, 
but some of them retain their original peaked roofs with one or two dormers. 

Since the area did not develop into a commercial center until the second half 
of the century, it would be reasonable to assume that quite a number of residential 
structures must have been built in the,Greek Revival style between the late 1820s 
and the 1840s. Oddly enough, however, only two surviving buildings in the Historic 
District (589 Broadway and 127 Grand Street) are identifiable, either stylistically 
or by documented construction date, as belonging to the Greek Revival period. 

By mid-century, the area of Broadway lying within the District had developed 
. into the leading entertainment center of the City. The sole survivor of the many 
theaters and hotels erected during that period is a small portion of the once 
elegant St. Nicholas Hotel, completed in 1854. The lintels on the remaining 
section, located at 521-523 Broadway, are embellished by garlands, volutes and v 
elaborate keystones, characteristics of the new French influence. Other contem­
porary hotels in the area, such as the 1851 Metropolitan Hotel, long since demol­
ished, were, however, built in a strict Italianate manner with arched ground-
floor windows and a combination.of projecting lintels and curved and peaked pedi­
ments Over the upper story square-headed windows. 

Early Commercial Architecture 

During the same period when hotels and theaters were prevalent along Broadway, 
elegant retail stores, many of which catered to the carriage trade, also began 
to appear. Although there had previously been food stores and service shops inter­
mingled with the row houses, the new scale, of commercial development, which 
began in 1850s, permanently changed the character of the District. 

Two of the more prominent early emporiums, the Haughwout Building and1 the 
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Arnold Constable § Co. store, remain today as significant iandmarks of the changing 
era. Their importance lies not only iri their'imposing commercial, grandeur, but 
also in the use of cast iron in their, facades.. The two buildings utilize the 
material in two different ways.. The Arnold Constable store uses.cast-iron ground-
floor, columns to support a. traditional, masonry front. The Haughwout Building facade 
is made entirely of cast iron. ''•.-.,.• ; 

The practice of using cast iron for storefronts and for architectural orna­
mentation had begun in the United States much earlier, though a complete cast-iron 
facade was practically unknown until James Bogardus erected, in 1843, a drugstore 
with: a full cast-iron facade for John Milhau at 183 Broadway.(36) It, was soon 
followed by his own factory building arid by five stores for Edgar H. Laing at the 
corner of .Washington and Murray Streets. Although Bogardus served as a forceful 
catalyst in,popularizing the use of cast-iron facades for commercial structures, 
he was primarily an engineer arid inventor. The: actual work of casting Was left 
to others.. Because of this role Bogardus was soon superseded by Daniel D. Badger, 
president of Architectural Iron Works* as the dominant.figure in the developing use 
of architecural cast iron in New York City., 

' Badger, who was first listed in the 1849 Directory.as a manufacturer of iron 
shutters, is most famous for the full Venetian Renaissance facade on the Haughwout 
Building of 1857. His work is, however> found frequently throughout the District in 
the form of cast-iron storefronts and roof cornices, the earliest extant examples 
being on the 1352 granite store built for Seabury Brewster at 535 Broadway. Like 
many of the masonry facades of the 1850s and 18,6Qs, these early iron storefronts 
and icornices usually have a classical feeling which mirrors the Italianate style 
so popular in contemporary residential architecture. The predominant characteris­
tics of these commercial.masonry buildings,, whether or not they contain cast-iron 
elements, are round-arched windows and square-headed windows topped by a pediment or 
cornice slab. Balustrades also frequently appear.below second-story windows, and 
occasionally below the.mo:re-important, windows on other floors. These structures, 
which are in most cases completely symmetrical, average five, stories in height with 
a width of from three to six bays*. The roof cornices, whether of iron or stone, 
are usually supported by heavy consoles or paired brackets between which frequently 
appear frieze, moldings. The cornices are also" at times topped by pediments, as" 
exemplified by the 1854 building at 508 Broadway. 

The cast-iron storefronts used in conjunction with these" stately Italianate 
facades are nearly all composed of classic Corinthian columns between which were 
placed the show windows. Other cast-iron storefronts from the 1850s and 1360s, 
either from Badger's Architectural Iron Works or other, .foundries, reflect the much 
more ornamental character of the French Renaissance style. An identifying element 
found on this type of storefront;is a medal lidn,or cartouche form applied to the 
columns or pilasters, these are. frequently combined with.scrolled brackets. 
Corinthian capitals are found on. both French and italianate designs. . 

Stylized, geometric capitals were also occasionally used on early cast-iron 
storefronts, such as those capping the pilasters of the 1355 storefront from 
Badger's Architectural Iron Works at 44 Mercer Street. Such a direct, "two-di­
mensional" approach anticipates the predominant neo-Grec influence found on the full 
cast-iron facades of the 1870s, the period of greatest popularity. 

The manner in which many of the cast-iron storefronts combine French and 
Italian elements is reflected in similar combinations on masonry facades. One : 
of.the more outstanding examples of such ,a building is the previously mentioned 
Arnold Constable store, dating from 1856 with an identical extension added in 
1862. The Corinthian capitals atop the pilasters of the iron storefront, cast 
by the Merklee § Nichol foundry, as well as the round-arched windows of the 
second floor are decidedly Italianate components. This Italian influence is again 
•seen on the marble Canal Street facade of the same building where the paired central 
windows on the second floor of the original section are emphasized by an underlying 
balustrade, and a crowning pediment connecting the two windows. These Italian 
motifs archoweyer, tempered by French elements such as the segmental-arched windows 
on the remaining floors., the elaborate top-floor lintels on the Canal Street side 
and the horizontal banding on the storefront pilasters that anticipates a common 
element to be. found on French Second Empire buildings. 

' The combination of classical elements was at times so free that no pre-existing 
stylistic term or terms can be applied directly in describing a particular building. 
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The most striking example of such a fabrication is the "sperm candle" style which 
was extremely popular in New York during the early years of the 1860s. (The name. 
was derived from the use of two-story columns or pilasters that resemble candles 
made from sperm whale oil.) The only example of. a pure "sperm candle" building in 
the Historic District is the 1860 marble structure at 502-504 Broadway, designed 
by the reputable firm of Kellum 5 Son., which originally had a cast-iron storefront 
from Badger's firm. This building, which will be more fully discussed in the block 
by block descriptions, is a transitional.structure which combines highly classical 
elements with a non-classical emphasis on yerticality and openness. These latter 
characteristics, which are typical of late 19th and 20th-century commercial archi­
tecture, are achieved by the use of large plate glass windows flanked by two 

'tiers of elongated columns which.span the second.to third and fourth to fifth stories 
with narrow spandrel panels dividing the two floors of each two-story grouping. 
Two other contemporary buildings in the Historic District, 464.Broome and 19 Mercer, 
also incorporate similar two-story units, but in a much heavier and more Italianate 
manner. 

The "sperm candle" style is important not only for its indigenous and pro-
gressive character but for the direct connection that it makes between facades 
that combine both cast iron and stone and those made completely of cast iron. The 
style was apparently first interpreted in stone, exemplified by the 1858-59 . 
marble building, located at. 388 Broadway, just outside the Historic District. In 
1860 a cast-iron "sperm candle" building, designed by Kellum, was' built at 55-57 
White Street, also near the Historic District. The significance, of these two 
buildings is that although they are identical in almost every detail, one was 
built of marble and the other is composed entirely of cast iron. This copying of 
a stone facade in cast iron points clearly to the original intent of most cast-iron 
buildings, which was to erect quickly and cheaply structures which would appear to 
be made of stone. It is important to note, however, that the "sperm candle", 
style was particularly well adapted to cast iron due to its lightness and open 
fenestration. 

Although most "sperm candle" buildings were constructed between 1859 and 
1861, there are extant marble examples dating as late as 1864. In these instances, 
it is intriguing to speculate whether or not the cast-iron "sperm candle" facades 
influenced the designers of these later buildings as much as their stone precursors 
had influenced the early cast-iron examples. Though not, dealing specifically 
with the "sperm cnadle" style, Walter Knight Sturgis. states on page 234 of his 
October, 1953 article, "Cast Iron In Mew.York" in the Architectural Review: 

"Cast-iron forms, originally designed to imitate 
masonry, were,' in a few years, imitated in the 
very same material from which they had been 
derived." • ' . , . , 

As previously mentioned, the earliest example of a complete: cast-iron facade 
in the Historic District is the 1857 Haughwout Building. The next full cast-iron 
front in the District did not appear until 1868. Cast iron was used though for 
complete facades in other areas of New York City as well as, in other cities during 
this eleven year period. This is well substantiated by listings in Daniel Badger's 
catalog of 1865. . 

Several of the cast-iron facades produced by the Badger Architectural Iron 
Works in the late 1850s and early to mid-1060s incorporate the same strong Itali­
anate elements., specifically those derived from Venice, as are seen in the Haughwout 
Building; By 1868 when Isaac F. Duckworth and Charles Mettam each designed a 
full cast-iron facade, the Italianate style had, however, become so diluted that 
only occasional elements of their designs can be so described. Those aspects 
which still recall the style of the Italian Renaissance are the second-floor , 
balustrades, the heavy pediments and the Corinthian capitals. The capitals are, 
however,, placed ,atop smooth rather than fluted shafts, a characteristic as non-
Italianate as the rounded corners of flat-headed windows or the rosette medallions 
above the capitals.. These elements which are essentially French, are combined with 
Italianate details in a pleasing and homogeneous manner. The combination is similar 
to" that used ou earlier masonry, facades, such as the one on the Arnold Constable 
store. The dominant Italianate influence of the 1850s was, however, gradually 
replaced in the late 1860s and 1870s by the inspiration of contemporary French 
styles. Though occasional reliance upon Italian motifs is found on cast-iron facades 
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of later periods,(especially in the work of Griffith Thomas),the most prevalent^ 
influence was that of the French Second Empire, the French neo-Grec and derivations 
therefrom. - ' 

Cast-iron Architecture 

Before discussing the period during which the use of complete cast-iron 
facades reached its peak, it is interesting to 'note some of^the underlying causes 
of its popularity and some of the methods employed by its practitioners. 

The second half of the 19th century in the United States was time of rapid 
'physical growth and economic expansion. It was also a time of intense competition in 
which.no one was embarassed in flaunting his newly acquired wealth. This phenomenon 
was manifested in the opulence of the ''residential palaces'7 in Newport no less than 
in the great "commercial palaces" of New York City. In both instances'; if"an indir. 
vidual or a company did not have the money to construct a building to surpass that 

- of a competitori methods were devised to imitate it as closely as possible. This 
was the case with a vast majority of buildings fronted by cast iron. Although cast 
iron is a material which by its inherent qualities can be interpreted in a light, 
almost delicate manner, inmost instances it was used to imitate structures built 
of granite or marble. More grandiose examples of such imitations can hardly be 

. found than the French Second Empire designs, of L F . Duckworth. When comparing 
the building costs of structures erected in the Historic District during the 1870s 
and 1880s; there is little appreciable difference between between those with upper 
stories of masonry and those with full cast-iron facades. Yet,' in nearly every 
instance, the cast-iron facades incorporate."a great deal more ornament than do 
those of brick or stonei When faced with a limited budget, an owner far preferred 
ah elaborate .cast-iron facade reflecting the. grandeur of; Paris or Venice, than a 
simple masonry.wall. 

In addition to the ease of casting iron in forms thst would have taken weeks 
to be executed by stone carversj cast-iron architecture possesses other practical 
attributes which were attractive to'Mew York businessmen. The use of paint on 

: these building fronts not only'made refurbishing simpl'e and relatively inexpensive 
but also gave the owner great latitude in choosing the paint;Color or colors. The 
increased speed of;construction over comparable masonry buildings, due to the 
prefabfication of iron units, was also a consideration. ...' 

Closely connected with the prefabricated nature of iron architectural members 
is the question of the,role that the architect played in the design of these 
structures. There is no question that an architect's professional skills were 
utilized in planning the basic substructure of a building and in determining 
the general formula to be followed on its facade. Yet, it is highly questionable 
whether he had much of a role in the design of the individual members. It seems 
almost certain that in the case of buildings which are architecturally unique or 
which are attributed to: one of the more prominent.architectural firms that it was 
the architect himself who supplied the iron foundry with specific designs or 
utilized members which he had previously designed. Did the architectural designer 
have sole right to these designs however? This may have been the practice in 
some instances, evidenced by the repeated use of specific motifs by certain indivi­
dual architects. But there are definite exceptions to this hypothesis. For example, 
a capital abacus, cast by the Cornell Iron Work's/ which is characteristic of the 
work of Henry Fernbach, was used upon occasion by other architects. 

When,studying the architectural styles used by the, more prominent and/or 
more prolific architects who wprked in cast iron, within the Historic District, 
it is possible to pick out distinguishing Characteristics that link the work with 
the individual. Little individuality is evident, however, in the work of the less 
prominent architects who also designed buildings with cSst-iron facades. Ap-

* parently the latter were usually confined themselves to choosing stock cast-iron 
members that had been designed by the iron foundry:or by another architect. It 
is, in fact, probable that even the,more noted architects also resorted to 
the same procedure at.times. It is known, that Badger's Architectural Iron Works had 
an entire architectural department, headed by George H. Johnson(37), which was 
solely responsible for designing-stock pieces and; serving as consultant to 
architects ordering cast-iron facades from the firm. Although Badger was not active 
during the period in which cast iron reached its greatest point of popularity in 
the Historic District, it can be assumed that the other foundries such as Cornell, 
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Aetna and Jackson had similar departments. •••'.:,"'''.. •'* 

The uniformity created by the frequent use of stock cast-iron members does not, 
however, diminish the effect of the facades, .because the very essence of a cast-
iron facade is its standardization. This disciplined regularity is seen not only 
in the repetition of bay units on a single structure, but also in the repetition • 
of details from one building to another! With the exception of designs such as those 
by I. F. Duckworth in the French Second Empire .style, the organization of cast-iron 
facades was based upon a strict balance between horizontals and verticals. . Though 
the buildings are often accented by a crowning pediment, their general effect is one 
of non-directional uniformity. This aesthetic.characteristic, though interpreted 
in classical forms, was as much a precursor of modern arhcitectural practice as 

, were the prefabricated components of the facades. - . . . 

As previously mentioned, Italianate elements combined with those derived 
• from France were;still utilized in several of the cast-iron facades built -
during the late 1860s and early 1870s.. By 1872-, however, motifs derived from con­
temporary French fashions strongly dominated the new.cast-iron designs, though 
an occasional Italianate window balustrade was still utilized. In addition.to the 
general influence from the French Renaissance", it was then that the grandeur of 
the Paris of Napoleon III began to-have.its greatest influence on the commercial 

'cast-iron architecture of New York.City. ,It is seen within the District most 
notably in the work of Isaac V. Duckworth; who used broken pediments,.horizontally 
banded piers, segmental-arched windows and mansard roofs. ' Even though these facades 

' were still basically organized on the. same.repeated bay system as were contemporary 
cast-iron fronts, they were frequently ;given focal emphasis by the,use of projecting 
central bays, dormer, windows or urns-set in the break of a pediment; .. .; 

The French Second Empire style as interpreted in cast iron was, however, in 
most instances tempered by neo-Grec ornaments. The French neo-Grec style, the 
single most important influence found, on the full cast-iron facades of the 1870s 
and ISSOs, was a sophistocated and stylized- outgrowth of the French Second Empire 
style. It is characterized by incised linear ornament> stylized floral and 
geometric forms executed in two-dimensional relief and widely spaced relief or 
incised parellei lines on columns and pilasters'; Light,; slender columns stopped by 
stylized Ionic capitals are also a hallmark of the neo-Grec style, though not a 
universal one. • ' 

In addition'to the use of neo-Grec elements/ such as terminal blocks and modil-
lions,Aon basically Second Empire facades, these elements were also used in con­
junction with derivations from other French styles. , By the late 1870s, the char­
acteristic cast-iron capital had changed from the Corinthian mode to a basically 
geometric form in accordance with ..neo-Grec principles. Such ̂capitals, typical 
of the work of Henry Fernbach, are usually characterized by a;smooth necking band 
to define the separation-between.the capital and column shaft. These capitals are 
supported by a simple abacus •frequently embellished by a neo-Grec apron, under 
which are set widely spaced geometric or stylized, floral forms,, Although not 
strictly neo-Grec in form, these capitals are consistent with the classical 
principles upon which the' style was based. Facades incorporating such capitals 
also frequently utilize other neo-Grec forms such as incised designs on the spandrel 
above each capital', antefixae projecting above the roof cornice and decorative 
terminal blocks at either end-of the projecting cornices at each floor level. Such < 
buildings characteristically follow the standard-.cast-iron formula of repeating V* 

. throughout the facade the.same bay unit. The window heads within these bays 
usually have rounded corners. « 

Cast-iron facades that, rley exclusively upon neo-Grec;forms are as successful 
aesthetically if not superior to those that combine various styles, thoijgh they 

' are fewer in number within the Historic District. It:sis difficult to generalize 
about-these designs since the architects:displayed great individuality. Pure 
neo-Grec buildings, however., generally have a more linear'.overall, character than 
those that merely incorporate a few neo-Grec motifs and. possess proportions that 
are more delicate and elongated. .>.. •> 

The neo-Grec, French Second Empire, French Renaissance and Italianate styles 
were by far the most popular choices fori cast-iron facades erected in the Historic 
District between the 1850s and the late 1880s when the full cast-iron facade lost 
its popularity.- An occasional.:Stylistic.exception, hpwever, is to be found, such 
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